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2. Board of Education of the City of St. Louis 

911 Locust Street 

St. Louis, Missouri 63101

3. St. John's Methodist Church 

5000 Washington Avenue 

St. Louis, Missouri 63108

k. Tuscan Hall Association 

5015 Westminster Place 

St. Louis, Missouri 63108

5. Trustees of First Church of Christ, Scientist in St. Louis 

5000 Westminster Place 

St. Louis, Missouri 63108

6. Baptist Church of the Good Shepherd 

500 North Kingshighway 

St. Louis, Missouri 63108

7. Racquet Club

4?6 North Kingshighway 

St. Louis, Missouri 63108

8. Missouri Title Holding Corporation 

600 North Kingshighway 

St. Louis, Missouri 63108

9. Castles-Wilson Buick Company 

WO North Kingshighway 

St. Louis, Missouri 63108
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4. Missouri State Historical Survey
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Department of Natural Resources
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWNI PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Tha Holy Comers Historic District is bounded on tha south by a lina contiguous 

with and connecting the south property lines of 5000 Westminster Place aid 

^76 North Singshighway; on the east by a line contiguous with and connecting 

the east property lines of ^?6 Sorth Kingshijrhway, ^90 North Kingshighway, 

500 North Kingshighway, and 600 North Kingshighway; on the north by a line 

contiguous with and connecting the north property lines of 600 North Kingshighway, 

5001 Washington Avanua, and 5017 .v'ashington Avenue; and on the west by a line 

contiguous with and connecting the west property lines of 5017 Washington Avenue, 

5000 Washington Avenue, 5015 Westminster Place, and 5000 Westminster Place 

(see Site Plan Map).

Included within the area described above are the following features:

1. Angelic Terapla of Deliverance (originally Temple Israel). 

5001 V/ashington Avenue. Built 1907-1908. A two-story 

limestone building designed as a Roman temple of the 

Corinthian order with massive columned portico and elaborate 

frieze. Windows of stained glass featuring symbols of the 

Jewish faith. Sntira interior executed in Caen stone. 

Designed by Tom P. Barnett, Architect of tha St. Louis firm 

of Bamett, Haynas and Bamatt. Builder Patrick J. Moynihan.

2. Abraham Lincoln High School (originally Tample Israel House), 

5017 Washington Avenue. Built 1936. A two-story limestone 

faced building erected by Temple Israel congregation as a 

companion educational and community facility. Complimentary to 

adjacent temple building in scale and materials. Designed by 

Benjamin Shapiro, Architect of St. Louis.

3. St. John's Methodist Church, 5000 Washington Avenue. Built 

1901-1902. A two-story limestone edifice in the Italian 

Renaissance style. Main entrance on Washington Avenue 

directly across from Te:qple Israel complex to tha north, 

announced by a great portico supported by four fluted Ionic 

columns. A second equally monuments! protioo on tha east 

(Kingshighway) facade. Main auditorium and campanile each 

crowned with Romanesque copper domas. Designed by Theodore C. 

Link, Architect of St. Louis. Builder Kill-0'Meara Construction 

Company. Altar, pulpit, choir stalls, and reredos carved by 

Albert Gass of St. Louis. Stained glass window above altar 

designed by St. Louis artist Sisgfriad Rainhardt. Other windows 

the work of St. Louis artist Rodney Winfield.
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k. Tuscan Temple, 5015 '<testmin star Place. Built 1907-1908.
A two-story Greek Revival building of the Jorio order executed - 

in gray brick with columns, pediment, and cornices, the latter 

ornamented with lions' heads, painted a cream color. Portico, 

which facas Kingshighway, supported by six massive columns. 

Designed by Albert B. Groves, .Architect of St. Louis.

5. First Church of Christ, Scientist, 5000 Westminster Place.

Built 1903. A two-story structure of earth-brown brick highlighted 

by limestone foundation, door and window detail, cornices, and 

roofline elements. Exemplifies a nineteenth century romantic in 

terpretation of various classical and Renaissance motifs blended 

into a harmonious whole. Classical influence apparent in the 

paired Doric columns used at the front entrance and in the porte- 

cochere, in the Greek design incorporated in the lintels, and in 

the acroterla along tha roofline. Italian Renaissance motifs 

recalled in the second floor north and south facades, especially 

the effect of continuous arches achieved in the design of the 

windows of the auditorium, which are of leaded glass. Designed 

by Mauran, Russell and Garden, Architects of St. Louis. 

Builder Althaus, Helm Building and Construction Company.

6. Baptist Church of tha Good Shepherd (originally Second Baptist Church), 

500 North Kingshighway. Built 1907. A two-story church complex of 

brick, tarra cotta, and sandstone materials in tha North Italian 

Gothic style, consisting of a main auditorium on the north end of 

the lot, an educational building on the south end, two loggias  

front and rear connecting these two main buildings, a campanile 

rising from the center of the rear loggia; and living quarters for 

the sexton behind the re.-ir loggia. Color a controlling factor in 
tha design and in the use of materials! "Tha base course at grade 

is of dark red Missouri granite. All other stone, which includes 

only the door jambs, sills, and shafts of columns, is of rich 
yellow sandstone from Minnesota. The terra cotta, where used, is 

of the same color and texture as the stona. The roofs are of 

red tile. The brick selected was of one burning, and ranges from 

a rich almost purplim brown to palest buff. Tha darkest bricks 

were used at the base, in all cases, and as the buildings oro^ress 
in neignt a uniform shading was carried out, ...the oairoanile0
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having tha ultimata degree of lightness of color. ...Ho coloring 

is used in the mortar, and thus as affect of mass is produced free 

from the lines that usually characterize brick structures. In 

the turning of the arenas an affect of voussoirs has baan obtained 

by tha juxtaposition. o£ light and dark bricks in groups and 

patterns. Diaper /sic/ and other details have been marked out 
in the same way, . .."^ Designed by Mauran, Russell and Garden, 
Architects of St. Louis. Builder Steinhoff Construction Company.

7. Racquet Club, ^76 North Kingshighway. Built 1906. A fiva-story 

building of aarth-brown brick with limestone trim, crowiad with 

a large copper cornice. The first floor facade adorned with art 

glass windows depicting early sporting activities of the club, 
including motoring and aviation. Houses a racket court, squash 

court, and basement swdjnming pool. Main dining room and numerous 

smaller provata dining rooms and sitting rooms on second and 

third floors. Twelve private rooms, available to members on a 

full-time residential basis, on upper floors. Designed by 

Mauran, Russell and Garden, Architects of St. Louis. Builder 

Sutherland Building and Construction Company.

8. George Washington 3hn (originally Washington Hotel), 600 North

Kingshighway. Built 1902-1903. A seven-story structure of Bedford

limestone executed with classic simplicity, the only ornament being

a series of bay windows running from the third to the sixth story

and crowned with iron balustrades, and the cornice at rooflirw.

Interior finished with marble and hard woods. Designed by

Eames and loung, Architects of St. Louis. Builder Central Building
Company.

9. Castles-Wilson Buick Company, 490 North Kingshighway. Built 1925. 

A two-story automobile showroom and service center. Brick con 
struction.
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All district features have bean assigned a level of significance:

Primary   1. Baptist Church of the Good Shepherd (Second Baptist Church)

Z. St. John's Methodist Church
3. Angelic Temple of Deliverance (Taraple Israel)

*. Tuscan Temple
5. First Church of Christ, Scientist

Secondary 1.

2.

3.

Ho Significance   1.

Racquet Club
George Washington Inn (Washington Hotel)
Abraham Lincoln High School (Temple Israel House)

Castles-Wilson Buick Company (included in the 

historic district to facilitate boundary 

description)

Buildings which fall within the "Primary" and "Secondary" levels of signif 

icance, with the exception of Abraham Lincoln High School, were constructed 

in the years immediately preceding and following the Louisiana Purchase 

Exposition or 190* St. Louis World's Fair (i.e., 1901-1908). Although 

built of varying materials in different styles by unrelated organizations, 

together these buildings are strongly representative of a single tradition 

in urban planning or design: the City Beautiful movement. This underlying 

design approach lends an essential unity to the architectural grouping 

which constitutes the district.

ALTERATIONS

Significant buildings within the historic district retain their original 

integrity, with three exceptions. Jh two cases the alterations which occurred 

were specific responses to deterioration of contruotion materials. The third 

instance was due to the expansion of commercial space.

1. Angelic Temple of Deliverance (Temple Israel)

Removal of the cornices on east and west facades as well as part 

of the pediment (1966)

2. Baptist Church of the Good Shepherd (Second 3aptist Church)

Top 60 fset of the 215-foot carapanile removed because of cracking 

masonry pillars (1951 ) 2
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3. George Washington Inn (Washington Hotel)

Ground floor commercial shops built along Kingshighway facade 

from building line to sidewalk (no date)

CONDITION

With the exception of the Angelic Temple of Deliverance (Temple Israel), which 

could use bettor upkeep, all buildings within the Holy Corners Historic District 

are maintained in an excellent state of repair. The former building is in 

need of exterior painting and window repair.

SITE

The Holy Comers Historic District comprises two blocks of North Kingshighway, 

one of the great boulevards of St. Louis. Eight of the nine buildings in the 

district have sites fronting on Kingshighway, the single exception being 

Abraham Lincoln High School (Temple Israel House) which is situated immediately 

to the west of Angelic Temple of Deliverance (Temple Israel) on Washington 

Avenue. The district is surrounded by late 19th century residential streets, 

both public and private, of varying architectural styles but generally high 

architectural quality, on the west, south and east; and by Delmar Avenue 

commercial district on the north.

PRESENT STATUS

Angelic Temple of Deliverance (Temple Israel), St. John's Methodist Church, 

Tuscan Temple, First Church of Christ, Scientist, Baptist Church of the 

Good Shepherd (Second Bapti'st Church), and the Racquet Club have all been 

designated official Landmarks of the City of St. Louis by the St. Louis 

Landmarks and Urban Design Commission. The entire area of the Holy Corners 

Historic District is included in the local Central West End Historic District 
of the City of St. Louis.

RD01N01ES

1. Second Baptist Church, Souvenir Volume Commemorating the Dedication of

the New Church Buildings (St. Louis: Second Baptist Church, 1908), pp. 4-7-^8

2. St. Louis Missouri/ Post-Dispatch. April 12, 1951, p. 1.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

An outstanding collection of early twentieth century architecture, the siting and design 

of the primary buildings of the Holy Comers Historic District show the pervasive influ 

ence of the City Beautiful tradition in urban planning among the architects and city 

builders of the day. The location of four major religious congregations in the district 
led to its acquiring a pre-eminent position in the history of the religious life of 

St. Louis and to national prominence as a center of religious ecumenism. Dua to the 

presence of the Racquet Club, the district has gained significance in the history of 
amateur sports and aviation.  

The district forms what is possibly the finest grouping of monumental buildings in the 

oity: three churches, a synagogue, a Masonic temple, a private club, and 5 residential 

hotel facing each other on both sides of a two block section of one of the City's great 

boulevards. These buildings are uniquely important in their immediate proximity and in 
the superb architectural ensemble created by this proximity.

h ?$uroh, <S w Churoh of the Good Shepherd) is one of the finest examples
of brickwork in a city noted for its unsurpassed masonry. "About 1,000,000 bricks were

used in the structures. The hundreds of arches contain no brick of any other color than

those used in the building. Over 58,000 bricks were ground by hand for the major aretes

:  1 ̂ f^d9" H ?ia 8S  ,   amantati n - E a<* arch was carefully set up when the bracks

t^hfr £? ? ?a * ta a barr81 whioh was mark8d ' » that tha *>asons had no 
trouble m putting it just where the designs indicated. "1 The composition i* distinguish*'

comer where t£ tS st tur1  t a t th t SgleT' '^Z^' *™ * *" B0rtheast 

antrance is On the site street. stata-9nt ^l*h tne site requires, yet the
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Tuscan Temple is a hexastyle Roman temple vary wall sited to magnificently fulfill and 
terminate the view down McPherson Avenue as well as decorate Kingshighway. An importanl 

feature of the building is that its m.-iin entrance is on Westminster Place to the south; 

the monumental eastern facade on Kingshighway was designed specifically to enhance the 

appearance of the boulevard and punctuate visually the McPherson Avenue approach.

It is evident that each of the various architects was concerned with the impact his 

building would have as a component element in the larger urban scene, the relevant 

context being that of a great boulevard, Kingshighway, flanked by residential streets 

containing imposing homes. The obvious concern with viaws and with the relationship 

of individual buildings to an overall urban compositionis a tribute to the force, of the 

City Beautiful ideal and to the supreme place it occupiad in the collective imagination 

of early twentieth century architects and planners. Attention to the problem of definin 

a great urban space is especially evident in Link's treatment of the east portico of 

St. John's and in Grovas' massive Doric portico for Tuscan Temple: in each case, the 
main entrance is in fact on the side street, but the building, nevertheless, appears 

to be oriented primarily toward tha boulevard.

Tha area became known as "Holy Comers" because of the location of three great religous 

houses at one intersection. Largely because of their immediate proximity, these three 

congregations ~ St. John's Methodist Church, Second Baptist Church, and Temple Israel - 

became pioneers in the ecumenical movement in the United States, inaugurating in 1931 th 

"Holy Corners Fellowship." In that year this small group of Christians and Jews launche 
"a trail-blazing experiment in defiance of contemporary attitudes. This pioneer venture 
in interfaith togetherness has endured for more than four decades, and what was onca 

daring innovation is today commonplace. The annual 'Holy Comers Fellowship 1 dinner of 
three congregations   two protestant and one Reform Jewish   might never have come 

about had it not been for an accident of location, plus the innovative bent of the late 

Methodist Bishop Ivan Lee Holt, ...than pastor of St. John's. ...It occurred to him 

that inviting the men of Second Baptist and the men of Templa Israel to join with the 

men of St. John's in their annual dinner meeting would be an excellent opening wedge 

toward breaking down barriers that separated them, in a day when many professing 

Christians held Jews to be outside tha circle of God's grace. Dr. Holt wasted no time 

in making known his idea to the spiritual leaders of the two neighboring congregations   

Rabbi Ferdinand M. Isserman and the late Reverend M. Ashby Jones. Both were enthusiastic 

over the proposal. On the wintry evening of Tuesday, January 13, 1931, the lasting 

fellowship of the 'Holy Corners' dinner was born."3 Although of the three sonpreeations 

only St. John's remains at "Holy Comers", the fellowship dinners continue as an inual 

ecumenical event, being hosted alternately by the three participating institutions. 4
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Long before the inauguration of the "Holy Corners Fellowship," the Temple Israel 

building had been the site of some of the earliest efforts at interdenominational 

fellowship between Jews and Christians. Under the leadership of Rabbi Leon Harrison 

during the first quarter of the twentieth century, Sunday lectures were held at Temple 

Israel. These services became very popular among non-Jews and did a great deal to 

foster the development of better relations between the two communities. In fact. 
Dr. Harrison's efforts "to open the temple doors wide to all who wish to enter there 

as worshippers and brothers" received such an enthusiastic response that he eventually 

found it necessary to deny rumors that Temple Israel was to become a non-sectarian 

body. 5

The district is sdgnificant in the religious history of St. Louis and the nation on 

other accounts as well. Second Baptist Church, which located at 500 Iwrth Kings- 

highway in 190?, traces its history back to the founding of the first Protestant 

church in St. Louis. In 1818 John Mason Peck and James E. Walsh came to St. Louis 

from tha American Baptist Board of Foreign Missions and with about a dozen other 

persons (almost half of the protest-ints in the City) organized a Baptist church, the 

first protestant church in St. Louis. Financial difficulties impelled the church to 

disband on January 5, 1833. The next day, thirteen ex-members and other interested 

persons formed a new organization and, in deference to tha earlier church, sdopted the 

nama "Second Baptist Church." For many years tha largest Baptist church in Missouri, 

the congregation has always been distinguished for its liberalism. Twice it was 

expelled from the St. Louis Baptist Association (Southern). In 1879 it was voted out   
because it served communion to Dr. William Greenlaaf Eliot, founder of Washington 

University and of First Unitarian Church of St. Louis, and again in 19^9 for adopting 

a policy of "open Membership," i?e., rscaiving members by transfer from other churches 

that did not practice immersion. First Church of Christ, Scientist was organized in 

189^ by fifty St. Louisans as one of the first five Christian Science churches in 
tha world.'

The Racquet Club was founded by a group of young business men in 1906. Some of the 

younger members of the University Club and the old St. Louis Club had decided that they 

needed an organization of their own with facilities for sports of various kinds. They 

broke away from tha older organizations to form the third Racquet Club in the United 

States. James Burkham writes in his history, Tha Racquet Club! The First Fifty Tears. 
"It is hardly a coincidence that the Racquet Club building was located at ^76 .iorth 

Kingshighway. The original description of the raal estate stated: '.A lot of ground 

in Hortense Placa subdivision. 1 Records show th.it of the twelve homes /then/ built 

in Hortense Place, nine of them contained a charter member of the Racquet Club."5 

In the annals of .amateur sport, the Racquet Club occupies 3 place of unique nrorain- 

anoe. The most prestigious amateur corn-petitions in both tennis and golf   the ' 

3avis and tha Walker Cups   wera each established by charter members of ths Club,
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Dwight Davis and G. H. Walker respectively. The Racquet Club has an equally prominent 

place In the history of world aviation, due especially to the activities and interests 

of such early members as Albert Bond Lambert, for whom the St. Louis airport is named, 

and others. Perhaps the single most significant episode concerns the Lindbargh flight 

and the "Spirit of St. Louis". An event "in the year 192? ...gave the Racquet Club a 

unique niche in world history, ...it was a decision reached twelve feet south of the 

oak bar on the first floor. Seated around a table were Harold M. 3ixby, Harry ?  

Knight, Harry Hall Knight, Major A. .B. Lambert, J. Wooster Lambert, and E. Lansing Ray. 

The decision which later was to shake the world concerned an investment of $10.000 

...for the purpose of backing a young man who was going to attempt to fly his airplane 

from New lork to Paris. On Sunday, May 22, 1927 'Lindy' did just that and the Racquet 

Club, the locals of this decision took a prominent place in history's annals.""

1. Second Baptist Church, Souvenir Volume Commemorating the Dedication of the 

New Church Buildings (St. Louis: Second Baptist Church, 1908), pp. -'4-

2. St. John's Methodist Church, Tear Book of St. John's (St. Louis: St. John's 

Methodist Church, 1905), p. l£

3. Walter E. Orthwein, "'Holy Comers' Change, Fellowship Continues," St. Louis 

/Missouri/ Globe-Democrat. January 15-16, 1972, p. 15A.

4. Ibid.

5. Samuel Rosenkranz, A Souvenir Presented at the Golden Jubilee of Temple Israel 

(St. Louis: Temple Israel, 1936), pp. 13, 15.

6. St. Louis ./Missouri/ Post-Dispatch. March 7, 195^, p. 3.

7. Missouri Historical Society, St. Louis Churches. Volume VII, no pagination, 

(scrapbook).

8. James Burkham, The Racquet Club; The First Fifty Years (St. Louis: The Racquet 

Club, 1956), p. 8.

9. Burkham, pp. 29-31.
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